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A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE HACIENDA

The 19th century Hacienda de Santa Cruz was established by a German immigrant Don Arnoldo Vogel, and his Mexican wife, Doña Clotilde Quevedo de Vogel. Construction of the main house, or Casa Grande, began in 1879 and was completed in 1890. 

The cool highlands were ideal for growing Arabica coffee. Hacienda de Santa Cruz became a respected coffee producer; and at its height, the plantation extended almost to the pacific coast, over one and a-half hours drive away. The quality of this coffee was so revered that the famous NY Hotel, the Waldorf Astoria served it, as well as to the German Imperial family.

In 1904, a magnificent arched aqueduct was constructed using black volcanic stone to provide water for use in the main house as well as to operate the generator, which provided power to the ranch machinery.

The Chapel of Saint Anthony was established at the Hacienda in the year of 1913 when a volcanic eruption threatened to destroy the coffee plantations. Its owner Doña Clotilde Vogel, prayed to her favorite saint and promised to build him a chapel if the Hacienda and plantations were spared, the Hacienda was then renamed “Hacienda de San Antonio”. Since then, every year on June 13th people from the surrounding towns and beyond come to pay him homage through dances, music, and a mass (celebrated in Spanish by the local priest). 

During the Mexican Revolution, many plantations were seized and destroyed, but Hacienda de San Antonio was spared as the Vogel family cleverly provided food and lodging to both, the government army and the revolutionaries. However after Señor Arnoldo Voguel passed away in 1926 a series of miscalculations and bad administration led the Hacienda to ruin. 

In the late 1970’s, Don Antenor Patiño bought the hacienda and brought the Mexican architect Mauricio Romano to begin to renovate the decrepit Hacienda. A wealthy Bolivian, Antenor Patiño was known internationally as the “Tin King”.  He came to Mexico in the late 1960´s´s and built the famous Las Hadas Resort in Manzanillo, Colima.  A decade later, British financer & tycoon Sir James Goldsmith acquired the hacienda.  Sir James had been married at a young age to Antenor Patiño´s daughter, who died while giving birth to a daughter who was named Isabel. He first came to Mexico and acquired a huge plot of land what would become Cuximala.  Years later he bought the abandoned Hacienda from his late ex father-in-law.

To start the project Sir James, brought French designer Robert Couturier to offer a classical European perspective to the on-going Hacienda restoration. Couturier added a second story part to the property, built the monumental staircase, demolished the small rooms once used for storing sugar cane machinery and built a living room and dining room around the main courtyard.  Sir James asked his daughter Alix Marcaccini and interior designer Armand Aubery to decorate the hacienda, balancing the spirit and tradition of a Grand Mexican Hacienda manor house, the soul of a family home. 

Alix Marcaccini worked to achieve three principal goals:  the first was to use the brilliant colors of México, the second to balance scale and the third was to incorporate traditional fine arts & crafts of México. She added the rooftop terrace to take advantage of the majestic views of the mountains and volcano and built the “Mirador” sitting room as well. 

Donald Barhart (an American architect and designer who lives in Guadalajara) helped by rendering the necessary drawings for the designs of the furnishings and for the wool rugs in many of the bedrooms. The beautiful wool rugs are all hand loomed by a family from Teotitlán del Valle, Oaxaca. The chapel was restored to a fine example of neoclassical architecture with the help of Donald Barhart as well. The restoration and decoration of the hacienda took about 10 years to its completion. Since then, The Hacienda has appeared in prestigious international books and magazines, being quoted by many as the most beautiful hacienda in Latin America.

Sir James’s family house first opened as a hotel in 2000. It is the sister property of Sir James’s coastal property Cuixmala and its Ecological Foundation in Jalisco which is 25 minutes flight or three hours drive.  The Hacienda and its ranch Jabalí continue the legacy of Sir James Goldsmith; ecological & social responsibility, love for family & friends, and most of all his love for Mexico, which he considered his second home.
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